FILED
December 21, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73564-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE			
STATE OF WASHINGTON,			
Respondent,			
v.			
ROBERT TYLER,			
Appellant.			
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY			
The Honorable Thomas J. Wynne, Judge			
BRIEF OF APPELLANT			

JENNIFER L. DOBSON DANA M. NELSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

### **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. There was insufficient evidence to support the conviction for possession of a stolen vehicle.
- 2. RCW 43.43.7541's DNA-collection fee and RCW 7.68.035's Victim Penalty Assessment (VPA) violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability or likely future ability to pay.
- 3. The trial court failed to comply with RCW 10.01.130(3) and therefore erred in imposing Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs).

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Appellant was charged with possession of a stolen motor vehicle. The "to convict" instruction listed as alternative means that defendant received, retained, possessed, concealed, or disposed of the stolen vehicle. The State did not object. The State failed to provide sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude appellant disposed of the property at issue. Should the conviction be reversed based on the insufficiency of the evidence?
- 2. RCW 43.43.7541 requires trial courts impose a DNA-collection fee each time a felony offender is sentenced. This ostensibly serves the State's interest in funding the collection,

testing, and retention of a convicted defendant's DNA profile. RCW 7.68.035 requires trial courts to impose a VPA of \$500. The purpose is to fund victim-focused programs. These statutes mandate that trial courts order these LFOs even when the defendant has no ability to pay. Do the statutes violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who do not have the ability – or the likely future ability – to pay the fees?

3. The Supreme Court recently emphasized: "a trial court has a statutory obligation [under RCW 10.01.160(3)] to make an individualized inquiry into a defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs." State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Here, the trial court was informed that appellant was unemployed and indigent. Yet, it imposed so-called "mandatory" LFOs without any consideration of his ability to pay. Should this Court remand with instructions to strike the LFOs and undertake a proper inquiry?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural History

On May 14, 2014, the Snohomish County prosecutor charged appellant Robert Tyler with one count of possessing a stolen motor vehicle. CP 80-81. By general verdict, the jury found Tyler guilty

as charged. CP19. With an offender score of zero, Tyler was sentenced to 45 days confinement. CP 7. The trial court also imposed a \$100 DNA-collection fee and a \$500 VPA, believing these to be "mandatory" fees. CP 16. Tyler appeals. CP 1-4.

#### 2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

On January 10, 2014, at approximately 2:30 in the morning, deputy Scott Stitch was patrolling Forest Service Road 2070 near Darrington, Washington. RP 35-36. He saw a White Honda Accord on a jack and a Ford Ranger pick-up truck about twenty feet away. RP 37.<sup>1</sup>

Upon reaching the scene, Stitch observed two men outside the truck and a man and woman inside the truck cab. RP 38-39. He later determined that Robert Tyler was in the driver seat of the pick-up truck. RP 40. Rebekah Nicholson was the woman inside the truck with him. RP 40, 57-58. Anthony Coleman and Tyson Whitt were outside the car. RP 38, 40, 102. Stitch observed that the Honda looked as if it was being stripped of some of its parts. RP 42, 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The reference to report of proceedings refers to the trial transcript for March 30, 2015 to April 1, 2015.

Stitch never saw Tyler near the Honda or even outside his truck. RP 60, 63. However, he observed what appeared to be some of the stripped parts from the Honda Accord in Tyler's truck. RP 42, 45, 54. Stitch arrested Tyler after he did not give what the deputy perceived to be a satisfactory explanation as to where the items in his truck had come from. RP 43, 46, 54.

Eventually, police determined the Honda Acord had been reported stolen. RP 17. Nicholson soon told police that Whitt stole the vehicle, not Tyler. RP 58. Separately, Tyler then told police that he was doing a favor for Whitt's parents when he followed Whitt to the Forest Service Road. RP 81. He admitted that he deduced from the circumstances of the situation that the Honda Accord Whitt was driving was stolen. RP 82, 84.

Subsequently, Whitt was arrested, charged, and convicted of stealing the Honda Accord. RP 114, 120. In Tyler's trial, Whitt testified that he only wanted Tyler to give him a ride back home, and he did not want to involve Tyler in the criminal activity. Whitt said he never told Tyler that the Honda Accord was stolen. RP 117-18.

#### C. ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTION FOR POSSESSION OF A STOLEN VEHICLE.

Appellant was charged with possession of a stolen vehicle. The to-convict instructions specifically listed as alternatives means that the defendant received, retained, possessed, concealed, or disposed of a stolen vehicle. CP 27. The State did not object. RP 134. Thus, the State was required to prove each alternative as elements of the offense. As shown below, the State failed to provide sufficient evidence that Tyler, or anyone else, "disposed of" the Honda.

Criminal defendants have a right to a unanimous jury verdict. Wash. Const. art. I, § 21. To safeguard the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict as to an alleged crime that can be committed by alternative means, "substantial evidence of each of the relied-on alternative means must be presented." State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 783, 154 P.3d 873 (2007).

To-convict jury instructions must contain all the elements of the crime. State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 265, 930 P.2d 917 (1997). In a criminal case, if the State fails to object to an unnecessary element in the to-convict instruction, the added

element becomes the law of the case and the State assumes the burden of proving the added element. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Specifically, when the State fails to object to the inclusion of the definitional alternatives for possessing stolen property in the to-convict, the law of the case doctrine requires the State to prove each of these alternatives as if they were statutory elements. Compare, State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 434-35, 93 P.3d 969 (2004) (holding the State was required to prove the defendant concealed property when that means was included in the to-convict); with, State v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459, 478, 262 P.3d 538 (2011) (holding the State was not required to prove concealment when that means was not found in the to-convict instruction).

On appeal, a criminal defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support added elements in the to-convict. <u>Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 102. If one of the listed means is not supported by substantial evidence and there is only a general verdict, the reviewing court must vacate the conviction unless it can definitively determine that the verdict was founded upon one of the means supported by substantial evidence. <u>State v. Nicholson</u>, 119

Wn. App. 855, 860, 84 P.3d 877 (2003) <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, 159 Wn.2d 778, 155 P.3d 873 (2007).

Under RCW 9A.56.068(1), a person is guilty of possessing a stolen motor vehicle if he knowingly receives, retains, possesses, conceals, or disposes of a stolen motor vehicle. State v. Hayes, 164 Wn. App. 459, 480, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). Although it is generally unnecessary for the State to prove all of these alternatives to show "possession," the State takes on this burden when it includes all of these in the to-convict. Id. at 481. In other words, where a to-convict instruction specifically lists the alternative definitions of "possession" as an element of the offense to be proved by the State, there must be sufficient evidence to support each alternative. Id.; Lillard, 122 Wn. App. at 434-35.

The decision in <u>State v. Hayes</u> is directly on point here and supports reversal. Hayes was charged and convicted of both possession of stolen property and possession of a stolen motor vehicle. <u>Id.</u> at 474. Looking first at the possession of stolen property charges, this Court held that the State was not required to prove concealment because it was not a means that was included in the to-convict instruction. <u>Id.</u> at 479. However, this Court reversed Hayes' conviction for possessing a stolen motor vehicle

because the to-convict instruction included "disposing of" as a means of committing the crime and there was no evidence showing Hayes disposed of the vehicle. <u>Id.</u> at 480-81.

As in <u>Hayes</u>, the jury instructions here defined possessing a stolen motor vehicle as "knowingly to receive, retain, possess, conceal, or dispose of a stolen motor vehicle knowing that it has been stolen and to withhold or appropriate the same to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto." CP 26. Again, as in <u>Hayes</u>, the to-convict instruction essentially echoed this language, setting forth as an element: "that the defendant knowingly received, retained, possessed, concealed, disposed of a stolen motor vehicle." CP 27. Consequently, there were five potential means of possession.

For purposes of appellate review, the first three means listed in the instruction (receive, retain, possess) are considered to be essentially synonymous. <u>Lillard</u>, 122 Wn. App. at 435. Hence, practically speaking, there are three means presented in this case: (1) to receive, retain possess, (2) to conceal, or (3) to dispose of. Only the third is at issue here.

When used in the context of RCW 9A.56.068(1), the term "disposed of" means "to transfer into new hands or the control of

someone else." Hayes, 164 Wn. App. at 481. In this case, there was no evidence that Tyler or Whitt handed over control of the Honda to someone else or transferred it into new hands. Indeed, the evidence supports just the opposite – that Whitt stole the car, drove the car, and maintained control over the car until police arrived. As such, the evidence did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Tyler, Whitt, or anyone else "disposed of" the Honda.

In sum, by not objecting to the to-convict instruction, the State undertook the burden of proving as an element of the crime that Tyler or someone else "disposed of" the Honda Accord. There is no such evidence on the record, however. Hence, Tyler's conviction must be reversed. <u>Hayes</u>, 164 Wn. App. at 480-81.

II. RCW 43.43.7541 AND RCW 7.68.035 ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO DEFENDANTS WHO DO NOT HAVE THE ABILITY, OR LIKELY FUTURE ABILITY, TO PAY LFOS.

RCW 9.94A.760 permits the trial court to impose costs "authorized by law" when sentencing an offender for a felony. RCW 43.43.7541 authorizes the collection of a \$100 DNA-collection fee. RCW 7.68.035 provides that a \$500 VPA "shall be imposed" upon anyone who has been found guilty in a Washington Superior court. However, these statutes violate substantive due

process when applied to defendants who are not shown to have the ability or likely future ability to pay the fine. Hence, this Court should find the trial court erred in imposing these fees without first determining Tyler's ability to pay.

Both the Washington and United States Constitutions mandate that no person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV, § 1; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. "The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural and substantive protections." Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006) (citation omitted).

"Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." <u>Id.</u> at 218–19. It requires that "deprivations of life, liberty, or property be substantively reasonable;" in other words, such deprivations are constitutionally infirm if not "supported by some legitimate justification." <u>Nielsen v. Washington State Dep't of Licensing</u>, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221, 1225 (2013) (citing Russell W. Galloway, Jr., <u>Basic Substantive Due Process Analysis</u>, 26 U.S.F. L.Rev. 625, 625–26 (1992)).

The level of review applied to a substantive due process challenge depends on the nature of the right affected. <u>Johnson v. Washington Dep't of Fish & Wildlife</u>, 175 Wn. App. 765, 775, 305 P.3d 1130, 1135 (2013). Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational basis standard applies. <u>Nielsen</u>, 177 Wn. App. at 53-54.

To survive rational basis scrutiny, the State must show its regulation is rationally related to a legitimate state interest. Id. Although the burden on the State is lighter under this standard, the standard is not meaningless. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has cautioned the rational basis test "is not a toothless one." Mathews v. DeCastro, 429 U.S. 181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 50 L.Ed.2d 389 (1976). As the Washington Supreme Court has explained, "the court's role is to assure that even under this deferential standard of review the challenged legislation is constitutional." DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr., 136 Wn.2d 136, 144, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) (determining the statute at issue did not survive rational basis scrutiny); Nielsen, 177 Wn. App. at 61 (same). Statutes that do not rationally relate to a legitimate State interest must be struck down as unconstitutional under the substantive due process clause. Id.

Turning first to RCW 43.43.7541, the statute mandates all felony defendants pay the DNA-collection fee. This ostensibly serves the State's interest to fund the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's DNA profile in order to help facilitate future criminal identifications. RCW 43.43.752-7541. This is a legitimate interest. However, the imposition of this mandatory fee upon defendants who cannot pay the fee does not rationally serve that interest.

As for RCW 7.68.035, it mandates that all convicted defendants pay a \$500 VPA. This ostensibly serves the State's interest in funding "comprehensive programs to encourage and facilitate testimony by the victims of crimes and witnesses to crimes." RCW 7.68.035(4). Again, while this may be a legitimate interest, there is nothing reasonable about requiring sentencing courts to impose the VPA upon defendants regardless of whether they have the ability – or likely future ability – to pay.

Imposing these fees without a <u>Blazina</u> inquiry does not further the State's interest in funding DNA collection or victim-focused programs. For as the Washington Supreme Court recently emphasized, "the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." <u>Blazina</u>, 344 P.3d at 684. Hence, there is no

legitimate economic incentive served in imposing these LFOs.

Likewise, the State's interest in enhancing offender accountability is also not served by requiring a defendant to pay mandatory LFOs when he does not have the ability to do so. In order to foster accountability, a sentencing condition must be something that is achievable in the first place. If it is not, the condition actually undermines efforts to hold a defendant answerable.

The Supreme Court also recognized that the State's interest in deterring crime via enforced LFOs is actually undermined when LFOs are imposed on people who do not have the ability to pay. <u>Id</u>. This is because imposing LFOs upon a person who does not have the ability to pay actually "increase[s] the chances of recidivism." <u>Id</u>. at 836-37 (citing relevant studies and reports).

Likewise, the State's interest in uniform sentencing is not served by imposing mandatory LFOs on those who do not have the ability to pay. This is because defendants who cannot pay are subject to an undeterminable length of involvement with the criminal justice system and often end up paying considerably more than the original LFOs imposed (due to interest and collection fees), and in turn, considerably more than their wealthier

counterparts. Id. at 836-37.

When applied to indigent defendants, not only do the so-called mandatory fees ordered under RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 fail to further the State's interest, they are utterly pointless. It is simply irrational for the State to mandate trial courts impose this debt upon defendants who cannot pay.

In response, the State may argue appellant's due process challenge is foreclosed by the Washington Supreme Court's rulings in <a href="State v. Curry">State v. Curry</a>, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992) and <a href="State v. Elank">State v. Elank</a>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997), which conclude due process was not violated with the imposition of the VPA regardless of whether there was an ability-to-pay inquiry. However, the "constitutional principles" at issue in those cases were considerably different than those implicated here. Hence, any reliance on these cases would be misplaced.

Tyler's constitutional challenge to the statute authorizing the DNA-collection fee and VPA is fundamentally different from that raised in <u>Curry</u>. In <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 917, the defendants challenged the constitutionality of a mandatory LFO order on the ground that its enforcement might operate unconstitutionally by permitting defendants to be imprisoned merely because they are

unable to pay LFOs. Hence, <u>Curry</u>'s constitutional challenge was grounded in the well-established constitutional principle that due process does not tolerate the incarceration of people simply because they are poor. <u>Id.</u>

By contrast, Tyler asserts there is no legitimate state interest in requiring sentencing courts to impose a mandatory DNA-collection fee without the State first establishing the defendant's ability to pay. In other words, rather than challenging the constitutionality of the LFO statute based on the fundamental unfairness of its ultimate enforcement potential (as was the case in Curry and Blank), Tyler challenges the statute as an unconstitutional exercise of the State's regulatory power that is irrational when applied to defendants who have not been shown to have the ability to pay. As such, the holdings in Curry and Blank do not control.

The State's reliance on <u>Curry</u> and <u>Blank</u> would also be misplaced because when those cases are read carefully and considered in the light of the realities of Washington's current LFO collection scheme, they actually support Tyler's position that an ability-to-pay inquiry must occur at the time that any LFO is imposed. Indeed, after <u>Blazina</u>'s recognition of the Washington

State's "broken LFO system," 182 Wn.2d at 835, the Washington Supreme Court's holdings in <u>Curry</u> and <u>Blank</u> must be revisited in the context of Washington's current LFO scheme.

Currently, Washington's laws set forth an elaborate and aggressive collections process which includes the immediate assessment of interest, enforced collections via wage garnishment, payroll deductions, and wage assignments (which include further penalties), and potential arrest. It is a vicious cycle of penalties and sanctions that has devastating effects on the persons involved in the process and, often, their families. See, Alexes Harris et al., Drawing Blood from Stones: Legal Debt and Social Inequality in the Contemporary United States, 115 Am. J. Soc. 1753, (2010) (reviewing the LFO cycle in Washington and its damaging impact on those who do not have the ability to pay).

Washington's legislatively sanctioned debt cycle does not conform to the necessary constitutional safeguards established in <u>Blank</u>. In <u>Blank</u>, the Washington Supreme Court held that "monetary assessments which are mandatory <u>may</u> be imposed against defendants without a per se constitutional violation." <u>Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d at 240 (emphasis added). The Court reasoned that fundamental fairness concerns only arise if the government seeks

to enforce collection of the assessment and the defendant is unable, though no fault of his own, to comply. <u>Id</u>. at 241 (referring to <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 917-18).

The Washington Supreme Court also noted, however, that the constitutionality of Washington's LFO statutes was dependent on trial courts conducting an ability-to-pay inquiry at certain key times. It emphasized the following triggers for this inquiry:

- "The relevant time [to conduct an ability-to-pay inquiry] is the point of collection and when sanctions are sought for nonpayment." <u>Id</u>. at 242.
- "[I]f the State seeks to impose some additional penalty for failure to pay...ability to pay must be considered at that point. Id.
- "[B]efore enforced collection or any sanction is imposed for nonpayment, there must be an inquiry into ability to pay." Id.

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