FILED
March 11, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73564-1-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

#### ROBERT LEE TYLER,

**Appellant** 

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

###

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

The Supreme Court found the Sentencing Reform Act contained adequate safeguards to prevent imprisonment of indigent defendants. Those safeguards included former RCW 9.94A.200 that allowed a defendant the opportunity to show cause why he should not be incarcerated for a violation of his sentence. <a href="Id.">Id.</a> at 918. Those same protections still exist. RCW 9.94A.6333. Because the defendant will not face any punitive sanction for failure to pay if he is indigent, he has not shown that he was actually prejudiced by imposition of the Crime Victim's Assessment or DNA collection fee without a determination of his ability to pay beforehand. For that reason the court should not consider the defendant's challenge to those statutes for the first time on appeal.

Additionally, in order to justify review under RAP 2.5(a) all of the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error must be in the record on appeal. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The court recently refused to review the same issue raised in this appeal when the defendant did not object to imposition of the DNA collection fee at trial on this basis in State v.

Stoddard, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, \_\_ P.3d \_\_ (2016 WL 275318). The court observed that there was no information in the record other than his statutory indigence for hiring an attorney that he lacked funds to pay the \$100 fee. Id ¶ 15. The court reasoned that the cost of an attorney far exceeded the DNA fee and without information that the defendant could not afford that minimal fee the record was insufficient to consider his claim. Id.

Similar to <u>Stoddard</u> this record contains little information about the defendant's assets, income, or debts other than he was found eligible for an appointed attorney by the Office of Public Defense prior to trial. 2 CP \_\_ (Sub 70, Motion and Declaration). At sentencing it was represented that he had a car but no job. 6/3/15 RP 3. He has served the time imposed, and was released by July 2015. 2 CP \_\_ (Sub. 75 Return on Commitment). There is no evidence in the record to indicate that he does not have an income, or the ability to obtain employment. Nor is there any evidence regarding any other assets he may have. Like <u>Stoddard</u>, this court should refuse to consider the defendant's challenge to either the victim penalty assessment statute or the DNA collection fee statute where the record does not contain sufficient information to afford review.

Alternatively the court should decline to consider the issue because the defendant invited the alleged error. Under the invited error doctrine a defendant may not seek appellate review of an error that he helped create, even when the alleged error involves constitutional rights. State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 545-546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999). In order for the error to be invited the defendant must engage in some kind of affirmative act through which he knowingly and voluntarily set up the error. State v. Mercado, 181 Wn. App. 624, 630, 326 P.3d 154 (2014).

Here the defense specifically stated there was no objection to the DNA collection fee. 6/3/15 RP 3. That was reasonable under the circumstances, given the court's recent decisions in <u>Lundy</u> and <u>Kuster</u>. A request to impose only mandatory obligations that had been upheld as constitutional allowed the defense to persuasively argue to mitigate his financial obligations by waiving other discretionary legal financial obligations. If it was error to impose the fee, the defendant knowingly and voluntarily set up that error.

In Mercado the court held that even if the defendant had invited the error at issue in that case, the defendant could nonetheless raise the issue for the first time on appeal because it involved an error in fixing punishment. Because a defendant cannot

agree to an illegal sentence, the court held that the invited error doctrine did not apply. Mercado. 181 Wn. App. at 631. Here the asserted error does not relate to the fixing of punishment. This court has held that the DNA collection fee is not punitive. State v. Brewster, 152 Wn. App. 856, 860, 218 P.3d 249 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1030 (2010); State v. Thompson, 153 Wn. App. 325, 337, 223 P.3d 1165 (2009). The invited error doctrine should therefore preclude review of the issues raised on appeal.

## 2. The Mandatory Financial Obligations Do Not Violate Substantive Due Process.

Even if the defendant failed to preserve the issue for review, the court may exercise its discretion and consider the defendant's substantive due process challenge to the mandatory financial obligations. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 834-835, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). If the court does exercise its discretion to review this issue it should find no constitutional violation occurred.

Statutes are presumed constitutional. The party challenging the statute bears the heavy burden to prove the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 235, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). If at all possible statutes

should be construed to be constitutional. <u>State v. Farmer</u>, 116 Wn.2d 414, 419-20, 805 P.2d 200 (1991).

Substantive due process bars certain arbitrary, wrongful government actions regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them. State v. Beaver, 184 Wn. App. 235, 243, 336 P.3d 654 (2014) affirmed, 184 Wn.2d 321 (2015). The level of review depends on the nature of the right at issue. Amunrud v. Board of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 219, 143 P.3d 571 (2006), cert denied, 549 U.S. 1282 (2007). The defendant does not claim that his property interest in a monetary assessment is a fundamental right. As a result, the claim is subject to the rational basis review. In re Metcalf, 92 Wn. App. 165, 176-177, 963 P.2d 911 (1998), cert denied, 572 U.S. 1041 (1999). Under that standard a statute must be rationally related to a legitimate state interest. Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at 222.

The legislature found that DNA databases are important tools in criminal investigations, in excluding people who are the subject of investigations or prosecutions, detecting recidivist acts, and identifying the location of missing and unidentified persons. RCW 43.43.753. It created a DNA identification system to serve those purposes. RCW 43.43.754. Monies collected under RCW

43.43.7541 are put into an account administered by the state treasurer. They may be used only to create, operate, and maintain the DNA database. RCW 43.43.753; State v. Brewster, 152 Wn. App. 856, 860, 218 P.3d 240 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1030 (2010).

The Legislature originally enacted the crime victim's statute "to provide a method of compensating and assisting innocent victims of criminal acts who suffer bodily injury or death as a consequence thereof." Laws of Washington 1977, 1<sup>st</sup> Ex. Sess., Ch. 302, §1. The statute was subsequently amended to include a provision intended to provide funds for "comprehensive programs to encourage and facilitate testimony by the victims of crimes and witnesses to crimes." Laws of Washington 1982, 1<sup>st</sup> Ex. Sess., Ch. 8, §1; RCW 7.68.035(4).

The defendant acknowledges that the stated purposes for each statute are legitimate interests. BOA at 12. He argues that the mandatory nature of those statutes do not serve those purposes when applied to persons who do not or will not have the ability to pay them.

Like the two statutes at issue here, the statute addressing imposition of appellate costs, RCW 10.73.160, does not require an

ability to pay inquiry prior to assessing those costs. In the context of that statute the court observed that it is not necessary to inquire into a defendants ability to pay or inquire into a defendant's finances before a recoupment order may be entered against an indigent defendant "as it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay over a period of 10 years or longer." <u>Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d at 242. The same holds true for the DNA fee and Crime Victims Assessment statutes.

Each defendant presents different circumstances. A person who is entitled to appointed counsel because he meets the statutory definition of indigence does not mean the person is completely without funds to make some payments, however minimal. RCW 10.101.010(3), (4). Nor does it mean that the defendant is without assets which he could use to finance those payments. Where a defendant had assets which he could use as collateral for a loan to pay a fine the court found he was not constitutionally indigent, even though he met the statutory definition of indigence which entitled him to appointment of counsel. State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 555-556, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014).

Here the defendant is out of custody and might obtain employment. Or he might have assets which he could sell or take

out a loan against in order to satisfy those obligations. An offender who is sentenced to prison may be employed in prison industries. RCW 72.09.100. In each case an offender may benefit from a gift of fund, such as an inheritance, from which the offender could pay those obligations. In any event an offender will not suffer an adverse consequence from his failure to pay unless he has wilfully failed to do so. Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 239, Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 918.

It is this feature of each statute that the court relied on when it concluded that no inquiry into an ability to pay was constitutionally necessary before imposing mandatory financial obligations at sentencing. Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 241-242, Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 918. In Curry the court specifically addressed the constitutionality of the mandatory victim penalty assessment. Id. at 917-918.

Nevertheless the defendant argues that <u>Blank</u> and <u>Curry</u> do not control whether an inquiry into an ability to pay is constitutionally required before the DNA fee and crime victims assessment may be imposed. He argues that neither case addressed whether it there was a rational relationship between the State's legitimate interest in providing funds for DNA collection and Crime Victims compensation and ordering indigent defendants to pay towards those funds. However the court did say that RCW

7.68.035 was not "unconstitutional on its face." <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 917. As demonstrated there is a rational relationship between the interest to be served and statutory requirement. Although the defendant may have met the statutory definition of indigence that does not mean he is completely without the ability to make payments toward the obligation.

The defendant also supports his position by citing the court's reference to the state's "broken LFO system" in <u>Blazina</u>. In light of that comment the defendant argues <u>Curry</u> and <u>Blank</u> should be revisited. BOA at 15, citing <u>Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 835. That reference related to the courts reasons for accepting review of an unpreserved challenge to imposition of court costs under RCW 10.01.160. <u>Id</u>. It says nothing about the continued viability of the court's holdings in either <u>Curry</u> or <u>Blank</u>.

The defendant also argues that a careful reading of <u>Curry</u> and <u>Blank</u> in light of the current collection scheme supports his position that an ability to pay inquiry is required before the DNA fee and crime victims assessment may be imposed. He points to various statutes imposing interest on judgments and mechanisms for collection to argue that enforcement actually occurs at the time the judgment enters. None of the statutes relied on however

imprison defendants for a non-willful failure to pay. For that reason the argument should fail.

The defendant points RCW 10.82.090(1) which states that financial obligations imposed in a judgment "shall bear interest from the date of the judgment until payment, at the rate applicable to civil judgments." The statute does not require immediate collection. It does take into account the defendant's ability to pay. It permits a court to waive non-restitution interest if the interest accrual causes a hardship on the offender or his immediate family. RCW 10.82.090(2). For this reason the court should reject the defendant's argument that the State's interest in uniform sentencing is not served by imposing mandatory obligations on defendant's who do not have the ability to pay them due to interest accrual on those obligations. BOA at 13.

The defendant also points to various statutes that allow for payroll deduction, wage garnishment, and wage assignment. These statutes do not in themselves mean there is no rational relationship between the State's interests in the DNA fee and crime victims assessment and in making imposition of that fee and assessment mandatory on indigent defendants. If one has a wage, one necessarily has some income with which he may pay

something toward those obligations each month until they are retired.

Additionally there are statutory mechanisms to ensure the monthly payments are based on the offender's ability to pay. When collection is attempted an inquiry into the offender's ability to pay is done administratively, either by the Department of Corrections or the clerk's office. RCW 9.94A.760(5)-(7). A wage assignment is achieved through a petition and court order. RCW 9.94A.7701. The amount withheld for legal financial obligations from one or more judgments is capped at the 25% of the offender's wage. RCW 9.94A.7703(2),(3). Likewise the employers' service fee is capped at a minimal amount. RCW 9.94A.7705(4). An offender who is subject to a wage assignment may petition the court to quash, modify, or terminate the order upon showing that the order causes extreme hardship or substantial injustice. RCW 9.94A.7708.

The defendant also cites RCW 36.18.190 permitting the court to order as a court cost a sum for the remuneration for services or charges paid to collection agencies or for collection services. Court costs are governed by RCW 10.01.160. The court

is required to take into account the offender's ability to pay before imposing that cost. RCW 10.01.160(3), <u>Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 838.

Thus, if these interest and collection statutes had any bearing on the constitutionality of the mandatory provisions of RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035, then they support the conclusion that those statutes pass constitutional muster. No offender is punished for a non-willful failure to pay. These statutes provide significant safeguards to ensure that the defendant's ability to pay is taken into account before a payment schedule is imposed.

Finally, the defendant argues the mandatory obligations are unconstitutional because they do not serve the State's interest in uniform sentencing because they can subject those who are unable to pay to a longer period of involvement with the criminal justice system. BOA at 13. The State's interest in uniform sentencing is a different interest than the State's interest in funding DNA collection and preservation and crime victims' compensation and services. The defendant cites no authority that a statute must rationally relate to all of the State's legitimate interests rather than just one specific interest. In Amunrud the court reaffirmed that the rational basis test requires only an inquiry into whether the law bears a reasonable relationship to a legitimate state interest. Amunrud, 158 Wn.2d at

226, ¶33. As demonstrated the challenged statutes satisfy that test.

- C. THE STATUTORY CHALLENGE TO THE LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW. RCW 10.01.160 DOES NOT APPLY TO EITHER THE DNA COLLECTION FEE OR THE VICTIM PENALTY ASSESSMENT.
- 1. The Statutory Challenge to the DNA Fee and Crime Victim Assessment Has Not Been Preserved For Review.

The defendant did not challenge the imposition of legal financial obligations at sentencing on the basis that he is or will be able to pay them. Appellate courts generally will not review a claim of error that has not been preserved in the trial court. <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 926). The rule is designed to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources by permitting a trial court to correct potential errors and thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011).

The defendant relies on the court's reasons to exercise its discretion to review the unpreserved challenge to court costs in <u>Blazina</u> to justify review on the basis that imposing the two mandatory obligations violated RCW 10.01.160 in this case. In <u>Blazina</u> the Court of Appeals exercised its discretion to not review an unpreserved challenge to court costs that had been ordered under RCW 10.01.160(1) without performing the requisite ability to

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